
Development 
Control 
Committee
Title: Agenda
Date: Wednesday 2 January 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber 
District Offices 
College Heath Road 
Mildenhall

Full Members: Chairman Rona Burt
Vice Chairman Chris Barker

Conservative
Members (10)

David Bowman
Ruth Bowman J.P.
Louis Busuttil
Simon Cole

Stephen Edwards
Brian Harvey
Carol Lynch
Louise Marston

West Suffolk 
Independent 
Members (2)

Andrew Appleby David Palmer

UKIP Members (2) Roger Dicker Peter Ridgwell

A SITE VISIT WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 JANUARY 2019 AT THE 
FOLLOWING TIME:

1. Planning Application DC/16/1450/OUT - Former Gas Works Site, Gas 
House Drove, Brandon, IP27 0EA
Outline Planning Application (Means of Access to be considered) - 10 no. 
dwellings. As amended by plan received on 26 June 2018 and further 
amended on 30 August 2018 with the inclusion of the Means of Access to be 
considered
Site visit to be held at 10.00am

Substitutes: Named substitutes are not appointed

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Public Document Pack



Quorum: Five Members

Committee 
administrator:

Helen Hardinge
Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01638 719363
Email: helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk

mailto:helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk


DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE:
AGENDA NOTES

Subject to the provisions of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, 
all the files itemised in this Schedule, together with the consultation replies, 
documents and letters referred to (which form the background papers) are available 
for public inspection online here: 
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/

All applications and other matters have been considered having regard to the Human 
Rights Act 1998 and the rights which it guarantees.

Material Planning Considerations

1. It must be noted that when considering planning applications (and related 
matters) only relevant planning considerations can be taken into account. 
Councillors and their Officers must adhere to this important principle 
which is set out in legislation and Central Government Guidance.

2. Material Planning Considerations include:
 Statutory provisions contained in Planning Acts and Statutory regulations and 

Planning Case Law
 Central Government planning policy and advice as contained in Circulars and 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
 The following Planning Local Plan Documents

Forest Heath District Council St Edmundsbury Borough Council
Forest Heath Local Plan 1995

St Edmundsbury Borough Council Core 
Strategy 2010

The Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010, 
as amended by the High Court Order 
(2011)

 St Edmundsbury Local Plan Policies Map 
2015

Joint Development Management 
Policies 2015

Joint Development Management Policies 
2015
Vision 2031 (2014)

Emerging Policy documents
Core Strategy – Single Issue review
Site Specific Allocations

 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents eg. Affordable Housing SPD
 Master Plans, Development Briefs
 Site specific issues such as availability of infrastructure, density, car parking
 Environmental; effects such as effect on light, noise overlooking, effect on 

street scene
 The need to preserve or enhance the special character or appearance of 

designated Conservation Areas and protect Listed Buildings
 Previous planning decisions, including appeal decisions
 Desire to retain and promote certain uses e.g. stables in Newmarket.

https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/


3. The following are not Material Planning Considerations and such matters must not 
be taken into account when determining planning applications and related matters:
 Moral and religious issues
 Competition (unless in relation to adverse effects on a town centre as a whole)
 Breach of private covenants or other private property / access rights
 Devaluation of property
 Protection of a private  view
 Council interests such as land ownership or contractual issues
 Identity or motives of an applicant or occupier 

4. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an 
application for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan (see table above) unless material planning considerations 
indicate otherwise.  

5. A key role of the planning system is to enable the provision of homes, buildings 
and jobs in a way that is consistent with the principles of sustainable development.  
It needs to be positive in promoting competition while being protective towards the 
environment and amenity.  The policies that underpin the planning system both 
nationally and locally seek to balance these aims.

Documentation Received after the Distribution of Committee Papers

Any papers, including plans and photographs, received relating to items on this 
Development Control Committee agenda, but which are received after the agenda has 
been circulated will be subject to the following arrangements:
(a) Officers will prepare a single Committee Update Report summarising all 

representations that have been received up to 5pm on the Thursday before 
each Committee meeting. This report will identify each application and what 
representations, if any, have been received in the same way as representations 
are reported within the Committee report;

(b) the Update Report will be sent out to Members by first class post and 
electronically by noon on the Friday before the Committee meeting and will be 
placed on the website next to the Committee report.

Any late representations received after 5pm on the Thursday before the Committee 
meeting will not be distributed but will be reported orally by officers at the meeting.

Public Speaking

Members of the public have the right to speak at the Development Control Committee, 
subject to certain restrictions.  Further information is available on the Councils’ 
website:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/upload/Guide-To-Having-A-Say-On-
Planning-Applications.pdf

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/upload/Guide-To-Having-A-Say-On-Planning-Applications.pdf
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/upload/Guide-To-Having-A-Say-On-Planning-Applications.pdf


DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE:
DECISION MAKING PROTOCOL

The Development Control Committee usually sits once a month.  The meeting is open 
to the general public and there are opportunities for members of the public to speak 
to the Committee prior to the debate.  

Decision Making Protocol

This protocol sets out our normal practice for decision making on development control 
applications at Development Control Committee.  It covers those circumstances where 
the officer recommendation for approval or refusal is to be deferred, altered or 
overturned.  The protocol is based on the desirability of clarity and consistency in 
decision making and of minimising financial and reputational risk, and requires 
decisions to be based on material planning considerations and that conditions meet 
the tests set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 206).  This 
protocol recognises and accepts that, on occasions, it may be advisable or necessary 
to defer determination of an application or for a recommendation to be amended and 
consequently for conditions or refusal reasons to be added, deleted or altered in any 
one of the circumstances below. 

 Where an application is to be deferred, to facilitate further information or 
negotiation or at an applicant's request.

 Where a recommendation is to be altered as the result of consultation or 
negotiation: 

o The presenting Officer will clearly state the condition and its reason or 
the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with the 
material planning basis for that change. 

o In making any proposal to accept the Officer recommendation, a Member 
will clearly state whether the amended recommendation is proposed as 
stated, or whether the original recommendation in the agenda papers is 
proposed.

 Where a Member wishes to alter a recommendation: 
o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its 

reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with 
the material planning basis for that change. 

o In the interest of clarity and accuracy and for the minutes, the presenting 
officer will restate the amendment before the final vote is taken. 

o Members can choose to;
 delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director 

(Planning and Regulatory);
 delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director 

(Planning and Regulatory) following consultation with the Chair 
and Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee. 

 Where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a recommendation 
and the decision is considered to be significant in terms of overall impact; harm 
to the planning policy framework, having sought advice from the Assistant 
Director (Planning and Regulatory) and the Assistant Director (Human 
Resources, Legal and Democratic) (or Officers attending Committee on their 
behalf);



o A final decision on the application will be deferred to allow associated 
risks to be clarified and conditions/refusal reasons to be properly drafted. 

o An additional officer report will be prepared and presented to the next 
Development Control Committee detailing the likely policy, financial and 
reputational etc risks resultant from overturning a recommendation, and 
also setting out the likely conditions (with reasons) or refusal reasons.  
This report should follow the Council’s standard risk assessment practice 
and content. 

o In making a decision to overturn a recommendation, Members will clearly 
state the material planning reason(s) why an alternative decision is being 
made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

 In all other cases, where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a 
recommendation:

o Members will clearly state the material planning reason(s) why an 
alternative decision is being made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its 
reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with 
the material planning basis for that change.

o Members can choose to;
 delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director 

(Planning and Regulatory)
 delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director 

(Planning and Regulatory) following consultation with the Chair 
and Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee

 Member Training
o In order to ensure robust decision-making all members of Development 

Control Committee are required to attend annual Development Control 
training. 

Notes
Planning Services (Development Control) maintains a catalogue of 'standard 
conditions' for use in determining applications and seeks to comply with the Planning 
Practice Guidance.
Members/Officers should have proper regard to probity considerations and relevant 
codes of conduct and best practice when considering and determining applications.



Agenda
 

Part 1 – Public
Page No

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Substitutes 

3.  Minutes 1 - 6

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2018 
(copy attached).

4.  Planning Application DC/16/1450/OUT - Former Gas 
Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon

7 - 36

Report No: DEV/FH/19/001

Outline Planning Application (Means of Access to be considered) - 
10 no. dwellings. As amended by plan received on 26 June 2018 
and further amended on 30 August 2018 with the inclusion of the 
Means of Access to be considered



This page is intentionally left blank



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

Development 
Control 
Committee 

Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control Committee held on
Wednesday 5 December 2018 at 6.00 pm at the Council Chamber, 

District Offices,  College Heath Road, Mildenhall IP28 7EY

Present: Councillors

Chairman Rona Burt
Vice Chairman Chris Barker

Andrew Appleby
David Bowman
Ruth Bowman J.P.
Simon Cole
Roger Dicker

Stephen Edwards
Brian Harvey
Carol Lynch
David Palmer
Peter Ridgwell

338. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Louis Busuttil and 
Louise Marston. 

339. Substitutes 

There were no substitutes present at the meeting.  

340. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2018 were unanimously 
received by the Committee as an accurate record and were signed by the 
Chairman.  

341. Planning Application DC/18/1912/FUL - Kininvie, Fordham Road, 
Newmarket (Report No: DEV/FH/18/029) 

Planning Application - (i) 60no.bed Care Home for the Elderly 
including car park, bicycle, refuse and garden stores (ii) Alterations 
to vehicular and pedestrian access from Fordham Road (Demolition of 
existing house including associated swimming pool, outbuildings and 
hard-standing) (previous application DC/17/2676/FUL)

This application was referred to the Development Control Committee as 
Newmarket Town Council objected to the scheme which was contrary to the 
Officer recommendation of approval, subject to the completion of a Section 
106 Agreement and conditions, as set out in Paragraph 123 of Report No 
DEV/FH/18/029.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

Members were advised that the proposals in the application before them were 
for a revised scheme following the Committee’s decision to refuse planning 
permission for a similar scheme in June 2018.  The applicant had made some 
amendments to the development, as proposed, in order to address the 
reasons for refusal that were given by the Committee.

The Principal Planning Officer – Major Projects reminded Members that they 
had also determined a third application for the construction of retirement flats 
on the Kininvie site.  That application had proposed a building of a similar size 
and scale but in that case the Committee accepted the size of the building but 
subsequently refused planning permission for other reasons (absence of an 
agreed Section 106 Agreement).

As part of his presentation the Officer outlined the differences in sizes 
between the three schemes for the site, which had been set out in a table 
within the report.  However, a typographical error was pointed out to the 
Committee, in that the “current scheme’s” application number had been 
incorrectly written as DC/18/2676/FUL when it was DC/18/1912/FUL.

The Officer also drew attention to Paragraph 97 of the report which listed the 
distances between the proposed building and the boundary, and the proposed 
building and the existing neighbouring properties.

Lastly, reference was made to the nearby developments which had recently 
been approved at Nowell and Southernwood.

Speakers: Mr Christopher Welsh (neighbouring resident) spoke against the 
application
Mr Steve Bucknell (agent) spoke in support of the application 

Considerable discussion ensued, with a number of comments being made with 
regard to the perceived impact on the highway and the parking provision.  

In response to which, the Service Manager (Planning – Development) 
explained that the Highways Authority had not objected to the development 
hence, the Planning Authority did not have the evidence to substantiate a 
refusal for these reasons.

Councillor Ruth Bowman also remarked on the fact that as the application was 
for a care home, as opposed to ‘retirement living’ as per the application 
considered in 2017, the residents were unlikely to own cars which reduced 
the demand on parking.  

Councillor Bowman also spoke on the importance of care homes being located 
within residential settlements rather than on the fringes of towns/villages.

Lastly, Councillor Bowman also posed a question with regard to light pollution 
which had been raised by some of the neighbouring objectors.  In response 
the Principal Planning Officer – Major Projects explained that the condition 
which was included in respect of a lighting strategy and scheme was not only 
to afford protection to neighbouring residents but also, equally importantly, to 
bats.

Page 2



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

Councillor Carol Lynch made specific reference to the ‘pyramid roof’ feature 
which was proposed for the rear of the building.  She considered this to be 
overbearing and out of keeping with the surrounding area and, as such, felt 
unable to support the application.

Councillor Peter Ridgwell raised a query with regard to the NHS England S106 
Contribution which was listed as £9,453 in Paragraph 15 of the report but as 
£9,936 in the recommendation.

The Principal Planning Officer – Major Projects explained that this was an 
error, and the recommendation should have listed the figure of £9,453 as per 
Paragraph 15.

Councillor David Bowman spoke in support of the scheme, which he 
considered to be an improvement on the previous application.  He moved that 
the application be approved, as per the Officer recommendation and inclusive 
of the amendment to the contribution to NHS England.  

This was duly seconded by Councillor Simon Cole who echoed the comments 
made by Councillor Bowman and spoke on the need for care homes within 
Newmarket.

Upon being put to the vote and with 6 voting for the motion and with 6 
against, the Chairman exercised her casting vote for the motion and it was 
resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be GRANTED subject to:

The prior satisfactory completion of a S106 agreement to secure:
 Developer contribution towards health infrastructure (£9,453).

And

Subject to conditions, including:
 Time limit (3 years)
 Compliance with the approved plans
 Precautionary archaeological investigations
 Samples of bricks and tiles to be used
 Details of finishes (colours to be applied to render, fenestration doors and 

other detailing)
 Scheme of windows to be fitted with obscure glass and fixed closed to be 

agreed subsequently.
 No use of the terrace at second floor (south facing) by staff, residents 

including their visitors.
 Surface Water Drainage scheme.
 Provision of a fire hydrant (or fire hydrants).
 As recommended by the Local Highway Authority
 Implementation of recommendations of the ecology and subsequent bat 

survey reports (including ecological enhancements)

Page 3



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

 Landscaping to be provided in accordance with the approved plan (and 
maintained for a period of at least 5 years) and details of a replacement 
street tree.

 Management of the landscaping scheme (including the container planting 
provided on the second floor external roof terrace)

 Protection of retained trees and shrubs during construction
 Construction Management Plan (including safeguarding of nearby training 

yards)
 Lighting strategy and scheme (including sensitivity to bat corridors).
 Water use efficiency.
 Sustainable construction – how Building Control requirements will be met.
 Crime reduction strategy.
 Waste minimisation and re-cycling strategy (including demolition of 

Kininvie).
 Provision of the electric vehicle charging points
 Submission of a refuse management strategy.
 Further archaeological investigations

In the event there was a failure to conclude a S106 Agreement securing the 
health contribution within a reasonable time period, the planning application 
would be returned to the Development Control Committee for further 
consideration.

(On conclusion of this item the Chairman permitted a short interlude to allow 
relevant parties to leave the Council Chamber, during which Councillors David 
Palmer and Peter Ridgwell also left the meeting at 6.58pm.)

342. Planning Application DC/18/0821/OUT - Former Police Station, 
Lisburn Road, Newmarket (Report No: DEV/FH/18/030) 

Outline Planning Application (All matters reserved) - Conversion of 
existing building (mixed use: Class D1 and Sui Generis) into 12no. 
apartments (Class C3) with associated external works, landscaping 
and parking

This application was referred to the Development Control Committee on 7 
November 2018 in light of the Asset of Community Value (ACV) application 
that was made earlier in the year for the building and also due to the 
Newmarket Neighbourhood Plan (NNP) which was in the early stages of being 
drafted.

At that meeting Members resolved to approve the application, however, the 
reference to the required Section 106 Agreement had been omitted from the 
report’s recommendation.  Accordingly, the application was returned to the 
Committee to ensure that Members were aware of this obligation in respect of 
the application.  

A Member site visit was held prior to the November meeting.  Officers were 
continuing to recommend that the application be approved, subject to the 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement and conditions as set out in 
Paragraphs 10.1 and 11.0 of Report No DEV/FH/18/030.

Page 4



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

Speaker: Doctor Rachel Wood (Governor, All Saints Primary School) spoke 
against the application

The Senior Planning Officer drew attention to Paragraphs 8.42 and 11.0 and 
explained that the S106 obligation in respect of public open space, in both 
paragraphs, incorrectly referred to “on-site public open space” when it should 
have read “off-site”.

Councillor Simon Cole inquired as to whether Suffolk County Council had 
provided any further response in respect of the building’s usage since the last 
meeting of the Committee.

The Service Manager (Planning – Development) advised that no further 
correspondence had been received and it was not in the Planning Authority’s 
power to delay determination of the application.

Councillor Stephen Edwards moved that the application be approved, as per 
the Officer recommendation and inclusive of the amendment to the S106 
obligation in respect of public open space.  This was duly seconded by 
Councillor David Bowman.

Upon being put to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it was 
resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be GRANTED subject to:

The following conditions:
1. Application for the approval of the matters reserved by conditions of 

this permission shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  The 
development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than whichever 
is the latest of the following dates:-
i) The expiration of three years from the date of this permission; 
or
ii) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the 

reserved matters; or, 
In the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved.

2. Prior to commencement of development the following components to 
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
i) A site investigation scheme,
ii) The results of a site investigation based on i) and a detailed 

risk assessment, including a revised Conceptual Site Model 
(CSM),

iii) Based on the risk assessment in ii), a remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and 
how they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include a 
plan providing details of how the remediation works shall be 
judged to be complete and arrangements for contingency 

Page 5



DEV.FH.05.12.2018

actions. 
3. No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take 

place until a verification report demonstrating completion of works is 
set out in the remediation strategy.

4. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found 
to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out 
until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the Local 
Planning Authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall 
be dealt with and obtained written approval from the Local Planning 
Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

5. Prior to commencement of development details of the access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale [access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout, and scale] (hereinafter called "the reserved 
matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out as approved.

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in 
complete accordance with the details shown on the approved plans and 
documents.

7. Prior to occupation details of biodiversity enhancement measures to be 
installed at the site, including details of the timescale for installation, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any such measures as may be agreed shall be installed in 
accordance with the agreed timescales and thereafter retained as so 
installed. There shall be no occupation unless and until details of the 
biodiversity enhancement measures to be installed have been agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

8. Prior to first occupation, all dwellings with off street parking shall be 
provided with an operational electric vehicle charge point at reasonably 
and practicably accessible locations, with an electric supply to the 
charge point capable of providing a 7kW charge.  

9. No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the 
optional requirement for water consumption (110 litres use per person 
per day) in Part G of the Building Regulations has been complied with 
for that dwelling.

And, completion of a S106 Agreement to secure:
 £12,181 towards the costs of primary school places
 £192 towards the cost of library provision
 £20,000 towards the maintenance of off-site public open space
 Affordable Housing to be 30% in line with the SPD

The meeting concluded at 7.09pm

Signed by:

Chairman

Page 6



      DEV/FH/19/001
Development Control Committee 

2 January 2019
Planning Application DC/16/1450/OUT – 
Former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, 

Brandon

Date 
Registered:

12.08.2016 Expiry Date: 11.11.2016
EoT until 25.01.2019

Case 
Officer:

Marianna Hall Recommendation: Approve Application

Parish: Brandon Ward: Brandon East

Proposal: Outline Planning Application (Means of Access to be considered) - 
10 no. dwellings. As amended by plan received on 26 June 2018 
and further amended on 30 August 2018 with the inclusion of the 
Means of Access to be considered.

Site: Former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon

Applicant: Mr Vincent Somers

Synopsis:
Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Associated matters.

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application and 
associated matters.

CONTACT CASE OFFICER:
Marianna Hall
Email:   marianna.hall@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: 01284 757351

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Background:

This application is referred to the Development Control Committee at the 
request of Councillor Christine Mason as one of the Ward Members 
(Brandon East). The application is recommended for APPROVAL.

Proposal:

1. The application seeks outline planning permission for the construction of 10 
no. dwellings on the former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon.  
The means of access to the development is included for consideration at this 
stage, with matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale being 
‘reserved matters’ and not therefore for consideration at this time.  
Vehicular access to the development is proposed via Gas House Drove.

2. The application has been amended since its original submission increasing 
the number of proposed dwellings from 8 to 10.  The indicative layout has 
also been amended as a result of this change.  The application has also been 
amended to include the means of access for consideration, where originally 
all matters were reserved.  A pedestrian right of way has also been indicated 
along the southern boundary of the site leading to Webb’s Row to the west 
of the site, with improvement works to Webb’s Row also proposed.  The 
existing 1.8m wide footpath along the southern edge of Gas House Drove is 
to be continued across the frontage of the site.  The indicative layout also 
details a bin presentation area alongside a central access road.

Application Supporting Material:

3. Information submitted with the application is as follows:
 Application Form
 Site Plan
 Location Plan
 Indicative Layout Plan
 Biodiversity Checklist
 Ecological Survey
 Reptile Survey
 Contamination Assessment
 Design and Access Statement
 Highway Mitigation Measures
 Surface Water Drainage Strategy

Site Details:

4. The site was in use in the past as a gas works.  The site is accessed via Gas 
House Drove, a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT).  Webb’s Row, a public 
right of way, runs north-south and lies adjacent to the western boundary.  
The site has been subject to some remediation works in the past to remove 
contamination that has arisen due to the site’s former use.  There is sporadic 
residential development along Gas House Drove itself, with more dense 
residential development to both the east and west of the site.  There is open 
farmland/paddock land immediately to the north of the site.  

5. The site falls within the 63dB noise contour for RAF Lakenheath and within 
the Stone Curlew Buffer and Recreational Pressure Buffer for the Special 
Protection Area.  The site is located within the Housing Settlement Boundary 

Page 8



for Brandon and is allocated for residential development within the Emerging 
Local Plan (ref. SA2(b)) with an indicative capacity of ten dwellings.

Planning History:

Reference Proposal Status Decision Date

DC/14/0574/FUL Remediation of former 
gasworks for the 
improvement of the site 
and to reduce potential 
environmental liabilities 
(Development Affecting a 
Public Right of Way)

Application 
Granted

08.08.2014

DCON(1)/14/0574 Discharge of condition 11 
of planning application 
DC/14/0574/FUL

Application 
Granted

15.09.2014

DCON(2)/14/0574 Discharge of conditions 3 
(Remediation/Verification 
Report) and 9 
(Remediation/Verification 
Report ) of planning 
permission 
DC/14/0574/FUL

Application 
Granted

08.09.2015

Consultations:

6. Town Council

No response received.

7. Highway Authority

Comments 01.09.2016:
PROW team potentially has concerns about impact of construction traffic 
and permanent increased traffic on Gas House Drove (a Byway).  The 
Highway Authority are likely to have requirements regarding parking 
provision and whether the development is sustainable.  Further comments 
to follow.

Comments 08.09.2016:
As a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) Gas House Drove is maintained by 
the County Council at public expense.  They have concerns that damage will 
be caused to the surface by construction vehicles and increased vehicle use 
arising from the development.  Further concerns that the permanent 
increased traffic level would be detrimental to the safety of pedestrians 
using the Byway.  The applicant does not propose any measures to protect 
or make improvements to Gas House Drove which may mitigate these 
issues.  They noted that the pedestrian facility stops before Webb’s Row so 
does not extend to the development site and provide a route for occupiers 
of the proposed development.  Furthermore, it does not propose a 
pedestrian link to the southern half of Webb’s Row (which is maintainable 
highway). 

 

Page 9



Comments 03.10.2016:
This response is sent following receipt of the applicant’s highways advice 
letter from GH Bullard & Associates.  The mitigation described in the letter 
would make the proposal acceptable to the Highway Authority.  No 
information or amended plans have been received to confirm whether the 
mitigation will be provided. Therefore, a definitive highways response 
cannot be provided at this stage.  It is accepted that passing places or safety 
improvements to Gas House Drove do not appear feasible due to the 
constraints of the route.  Extension of the pedestrian route and provision of 
an alternative metalled route to Webb’s Row would provide mitigation in this 
respect.

Comments 18.11.2016:
Gas House Drove is a BOAT (Byway Open to All Traffic) and therefore falls 
outside the scope of the Highway Authority and the responses provided has 
been formulated after consultation with SCC PROW. Therefore, the 
comments below are advice for the LPA based on expertise in advising on 
matters of highway safety which is felt is relevant due to the regular 
vehicular use of Gas House Drove.
We are aware of the existing situation on Gas House Drove whereby vehicles 
have difficulty passing one another and must use the footway in order to 
pass. This is detrimental to the safety of footway users, particularly 
vulnerable footway users such as young children and those with mobility 
difficulties.  Undoubtedly the proposal to provide 8 additional dwellings on 
Gas House Drove would result in additional vehicle movements (particularly 
involving large vehicles during the construction period).  My view is that it 
is highly likely that the permanent increase in vehicle movements associated 
with the proposal would be further detrimental to the safety of footway users 
on Gas House Drove.
It is worth noting that a final consultation response (with recommended 
conditions) has not been provided by the Highway Authority as yet. A 
number of measures to protect and maintain the condition of Gas House 
Drove surface and mitigate the impact of additional use have been proposed 
in the GH Bullard report. However, I am not aware if these have been agreed 
and proposed by the developer so recommended conditions have not been 
provided as yet. It is envisaged that the conditions would include surveys of 
Gas House Drove before and after construction, construction delivery plans 
as well as conditions related to improved pedestrian links via Webb’s Row. 
We would also require Section 106 contributions towards the future 
maintenance of Gas House Drove surface.

Comments 08.06.2017:
While it is accepted that Gas House Drove is a Byway Open to All Traffic 
(BOAT), and can be used by vehicular traffic, it is currently predominantly 
a pedestrian right of way. Recent safety improvement works have created 
a metalled surface with traffic calming and a 1.5m footway provision, 
reducing the available width for vehicles to 3.0m. This footway provision is 
flush with the carriageway and vehicles over-run this when passing each 
other, giving potential for vehicle-pedestrian conflict.
Our previous comments have all raised concerns that the width of Gas House 
Drove is too narrow to allow 2 vehicles and pedestrians to pass safely, and 
while the proposed improvements to Webb’s Row are necessary to ensure 
a safe route for pedestrians toward the school and that side of the town, it 

Page 10



must be assumed that Gas House Drove will still be the preferred route for 
many, being a more direct access to shops and the railway.
Passing places would be ideal but it is stated this may not be feasible for 
land ownership and/or cost reasons. However, there does not seem to be 
any qualification to this assertion.  We would therefore request that the 
applicant investigates the possibility of providing some passing places if 
there is no alternative to using Gas House Drove to access the proposed 
development. 
Previous comments have requested S106 contributions for the improvement 
and continuing maintenance of Gas House Drove and the provision of 
passing places would be accepted for this.
Proposed development of 10 houses will alter the pedestrian-vehicle balance 
to being predominantly vehicular, which will have an impact on pedestrian 
safety and raise the potential of pedestrian-vehicle conflict. However, in 
addition to the number of properties currently accessed via Gas House 
Drove, the impact cannot be considered as severe enough to recommend 
refusal, and we therefore aim to improve safety as much as is possible.
Reiterate previous comments made in relation to Construction and HGV 
traffic, and that any agreed development should be constructed in 
accordance with the Suffolk Design Guide and Parking Standards.

Comments 04.01.2018:
Note that passing places are not possible.  Conditions recommended 
regarding surfacing of access, width of access, bin storage and presentation 
areas, details of estate roads and footpaths, construction and deliveries 
management plan, parking and manoeuvring including cycle storage, 
improvements to Webb’s Row footpath and provision of visibility splays.

Comments 24.08.2018:
 Note that passing places are not possible.  The indicative parking for plots 

1 and 2 is accessed from Gas House Drove.  6.0m clear space must be 
allowed behind all parking spaces for manoeuvring.  Recommendation of 
conditions to this outline application does not infer the indicative layout is 
acceptable.  Conditions recommended in relation to the access, areas for 
storage and presentation of refuse/recycling, construction of estate roads 
and footpaths, submission of a Construction and Deliveries Management 
Plan, parking areas, right of way improvements and visibility splays.

8. Public Rights of Way Team

Comments 07.09.2016:
Brandon Byway 3 is recorded along Gas House Drove, providing access to 
the proposed development area.  Brandon Public Footpath 8 is adjacent.
The Team has concerns over the vehicular impact on the byway surface by 
construction and increased vehicle use as a result of the development.  The 
byway, which is maintained by the County Council at public expense, is not 
surfaced to the same specification as that required by highways of a higher 
status.
It would be beneficial to the residents of this development if a pedestrian 
access was available onto Public Footpath 8 (Webb’s Row) which leads to 
Thetford Road and the School.

Comments 20.04.2017:
Should the application be approved it is requested that a Deliveries 
Management Plan is secured by condition.

Page 11



Comments 22.08.2018:
Byway 3 Brandon is recorded along Gas House Drove, and Footpath 8 
Brandon is adjacent.  Previous comments should be taken into account.  The 
driveways off of Gas House Drove are unacceptable in their current form, as 
there is insufficient turning space.  The new public right of way to Webb’s 
Row will be for pedestrians only.
No objection – number of informative notes apply.

9. Ministry of Defence (Noise)

Comments 25.05.2017:
The application site is inside the 63dB(A) contour as set out in “A Report on 
A Military Aviation Noise Contour of F15MK/C and F15MK/E Aircraft Activity 
at RAF Lakenheath”.  No objection subject to adequate noise mitigation 
measures being incorporated.

10.Environment Agency

Comments 02.09.2016:
Satisfied that based on the remediation work that was carried out between 
2005 and 2015, as documented in the verification report by Sirius (2015), 
the proposed development does not pose an unacceptable risk to controlled 
waters.

Comments 31.07.2018:
No objection subject to comments previously made and a condition in 
relation to a remediation strategy. The technical comments should be 
resolved in future submissions.

11.Natural England

Comments 23.08.2016:
Statutory nature conservation sites – no objection.  Natural England has not 
assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on 
protected species.  This application may provide opportunities for 
biodiversity and landscape enhancements.

Comments 24.01.2017:
Comments as per 23.08.2016.

Comments 13.07.2017:
The proposed amendments are unlikely to have significantly different 
impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.

Comments 18.07.2018:
Advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this amendment 
although we made no objection to the original proposal.  The proposed 
amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly 
different impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.

Page 12



12.Suffolk Wildlife Trust

Comments 14.02.2017:
Request that the recommended reptile survey is undertaken prior to 
determination of the application.  Also, should any further tree removal be 
required, a bat survey should be undertaken prior to works.
It is regrettable that the area of mixed plantation woodland was felled prior 
to the ecological survey as the true character of the site could not be 
assessed.  It is noted that due to the small area of the site, and the housing 
density, there is a lack of opportunity for landscaping planting, which if done 
appropriately, could have offered biodiversity enhancement.  The consultant 
has offered enhancement recommendations, but it is questionable whether 
these are achievable given the size and layout of the site.

13.Suffolk County Council Flood and Water Team

Comments 08.02.2017:
SCC Floods recommend a holding objection as no drainage strategy has 
been submitted at this time.

Comments 06.07.2018:
No objection in principle to drainage strategy as infiltration rates are 
satisfactory.  However there are concerns that regarding contamination and 
whether the site requires further remediation.
The site is within close proximity to Source Protection Zone 1 and the use 
of soakaways, as proposed by the drainage strategy, has the ability to 
mobilise contaminants towards groundwater if they still exist on site.
SCC Floods will not approve a drainage strategy until such time that the site 
has been certified free of contamination by an appropriate risk management 
body or a remediation strategy is required at the next stage of planning.

Comments 24.07.2018:
Content on the basis that conditions on remediation would need to be 
discharged in advance of any surface water drainage conditions being 
discharged.  Conditions recommended regarding surface water drainage 
scheme.

14.Suffolk County Council Development Contributions

Comments 24.08.2018:
Request the following contributions: Education £56,617 and Libraries £128.

Comments 06.09.2018:
Request the following contributions: Education £36,710 and Libraries £128.

15.Suffolk Fire and Rescue Service

Comments 30.09.2016:
Adequate provision for fire hydrants should be made.

16.Environment Team

Comments 19.08.2016:

Page 13



Application is supported by a Phase 1 Contamination Assessment 
undertaken by AF Howland Associates, reference MSH/16.144/Phase1, 
dated 5th May 2016. The report gives a brief summary of the history and 
environmental setting of the site, but fails to provide some of the detail that 
would normally be expected for such a site and makes some basic errors 
(such as indicating the incorrect location on the site location plan). However, 
the report recognises that the previous investigations and remedial works, 
which have been extensive in nature, will need to be reviewed to enable an 
appropriate and targeted intrusive investigation. We are therefore satisfied 
that the risks to human health associated with land contamination at the 
site can be appropriately managed by attaching the standard land 
contamination condition to any planning permission. However, due to the 
further research required prior to the undertaking of the intrusive 
investigation, we would draw particular attention to part i) of the first 
condition in this instance, which requires the site investigation scheme to 
be provided to the Local Planning Authority prior to the site investigation 
taking place.

Comments 23.01.2017:
Previous comments in relation to contaminated land remain valid.
The approach to air quality has changed since comments were last made.  
The EPUK document Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning 
For Air Quality (May 2015(v1.1)) suggests major developments (in terms of 
planning – i.e. 10 dwellings or greater) are subject to measures to help 
reduce the impact on Local Air Quality.  All major developments should be 
targeted as there are very few developments which will show a direct impact 
on local air quality, but all developments will have a cumulative effect.  It is 
therefore recommended that a condition is attached to ensure that local air 
quality is enhanced through the increased uptake of zero emission Electric 
Vehicles.

17.Public Health and Housing

Comments 21.11.2016:
Do not object, however in accordance with the noise mapping provided by 
the MOD, the proposed development is likely to be affected by aircraft noise.  
Condition recommended regarding acoustic insulation.

Comments 30.01.2017:
Refer to previous comments.

18.Landscape and Ecology Officer

Comments 10.11.2016:
Unclear from ecological report whether the whole extent of the site has been 
surveyed.  Woodland trees to the south of the site have been removed.
The ecological report recommends that retile surveys are undertaken.  This 
does not appear to have been completed.
The proposals are likely to impact on birds, through habitat loss and 
potentially reptiles and bats depending on whether any further tree 
clearance is required.  Mitigation measures are included although these are 
incomplete pending the results of the reptile survey.
The site layout submitted does not allow for the existing trees that have 
been removed to be replaced.  It is unlikely that the pepper potting of trees 
around the periphery of the site within domestic gardens will not realistically 

Page 14



be retained.  A plan showing how the public amenity of Gas House Drove 
and Webb’s Row will be protected is required.  This should include the 
proposed improvements to pedestrian access on Webb’s Row.

Comments 14.03.2017:
The introduction of an access onto Webb’s Row is welcomed.  The ecological 
report has been amended and the new plan shows the trees that have been 
felled to allow development.  The ecological consultant has confirmed that 
the whole site was surveyed.  However the recommendations remain the 
same and the applicant should be required to undertake and submit a reptile 
survey prior to determination.
It remains the case that the proposals have the potential to impact on birds, 
hedgehogs and reptiles.  The layout of the site demonstrates that there is 
not sufficient room to mitigate any impacts particularly in relation to reptiles 
and for replacement trees.  A plan showing how the public amenity of Gas 
House Drove and Webb’s Row will be protected is required.

Comments 01.03.2018:
The applicant has submitted a retile survey for the site.  The findings of this 
survey inform the updated Ecological Survey, which includes a preliminary 
mitigation method statement and enhancement.  Details of the 
enhancements should be submitted for approval.
The indicative layout for the site has not been revised and remains 
unacceptable.  Any reserved matters application should include sufficient 
room to allow for the replacement planting of trees (previously removed 
from the site) and consideration should be given to fronting at least some 
properties onto Webb’s Row to improve the amenity of this route.  The public 
amenity of Gas House Drove should also be a primary consideration at the 
reserved matters stage.

Comments 18.10.2018:
Habitats Regulations Assessment
Site is outside of Breckland SPA and SAC. The site is within the 1500km 
buffer protecting those parts of the SPA suitable for stone curlew however 
it is separated from the relevant parts of the SPA by the built development 
of Brandon. The site is outside of the 400km buffer protecting those parts 
of the SPA suitable for woodlark and nightjar. Given the small size of this 
development and the location as described, likely significant effects arising 
from this development alone can be screened out.
Site is located approximately 1km from the Breckland Forest SSSI which is 
a component part of Breckland SPA. There is potential for the new residents 
to walk from their properties into the forest. However the site is small and 
located within the town of Brandon where there are facilities for informal 
and formal recreation. The most direct route to the forest is on a well-used 
Public Right of Way, which forms the long distance St Edmund Way and 
Hereward Way. This route leads to Santon Downham where it links to the 
footpath on the northern side of the Little Ouse River. There are other 
footpath connections from the development site which would be equally 
attractive recreational routes. Taking the above factors into account likely 
significant effects from the development alone can be screened out.
Site is within the 7.5km of the SPA which is considered to be the distance 
from which additional residential development has the potential to 
contribute to in-combination recreational effects.
The proposed residential dwellings would have access to garden space. In 
addition the proposals to improve Webb’s Row and include additional links 

Page 15



to the west will encourage the residents to walk to the existing town to use 
the green space and facilities avoiding and reducing the need for these new 
residents to get into their car and drive to other locations within the forest.
On the basis of the above information, and so long as the improvements 
and access onto Webb’s Row is secured, the Local Planning Authority in its 
role as Competent Authority is able to conclude that the proposals, in 
combination with other plans and projects, would not have an adverse effect 
on the integrity of Breckland SPA.
It is recommended that as well as the conditions required by the highway 
authority to secure the improvements to Webb’s Row and the footpath link 
on Gas House Drove, the link to Webb’s Row from the southern part of the 
site is also secured through condition with details to be submitted at the 
Reserved Matters stage.
Other Biodiversity Matters
The applicant has submitted a reptile survey for the site. The findings of this 
survey inform the updated Ecological Survey, Gas House Drove, Brandon 
June 2017, which includes a preliminary mitigation method statement and 
enhancement. Should the application be given permission section 6.3 and 
6.4 should be conditioned. Details of the enhancements should be submitted 
for approval.
Landscape
The indicative layout for the site has been revised and as discussed above 
the link from the site to Webb’s Row is welcomed however the layout 
remains unacceptable because the requirement for replacement tree 
planting. The public amenity of Webb’s Row should also be a primary 
consideration at the reserved matters stage. It is recommended that the 
requirement for replacement tree planting and boundary treatment, for 
example a hedge, along Webb’s Row are conditioned.

19.Planning Policy Team

Comments 20.07.2017:
 The Council has demonstrated an up to date five year supply of housing 

land;
 This site lies within the settlement boundary;
 The Submission Site Allocations Local Plan, taking into account all 

available evidence at this time, allocates this site for residential 
development under policy SA2(b);

 Although this is an outline application with all matters reserved, the 
reserved matters will need to consider an appropriate relationship of the 
scheme with the surrounding area and address criteria in Policies DM2 
and DM22;

 Appropriate landscaping should be incorporated;
 Despite being outline, the proposal is for 10 dwellings and should have 

regard to affordable housing as required by Policy CS9.  This does not 
appear to have been demonstrated.  Furthermore, the dwellings are 
described as being 3-5 bedroom, and therefore do not represent an 
affordable mix of unit sizes;

 In accordance with the noise mapping provided by the MOD, the 
proposed development is likely to be affected by aircraft noise, and it is 
recommended that condition/s suggested by Public Health and Housing 
are utilised to safeguard future residential amenities;

 A study undertaken by Footprint Ecology on behalf of Forest Heath DC 
and St Edmundsbury BC identified that over half of visitors to Breckland 
SPA locations within the districts lived within 7.5km of the SPA.  It is 

Page 16



therefore considered that new residential development within 7.5km of 
the SPA will result in increased numbers of visitors accessing the SPA; 
this could in turn result in significant impacts on the features for which 
the SPA is designated.  Prior to granting planning consent for residential 
development at this site the proposed development should be assessed 
to see if acceptable under the requirements of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations (2010) (as amended) to determine 
whether it is likely to result in a likely significant effect on the SPA, either 
alone or in-combination with other plans or projects;

 HRA screening should be undertaken by the Ecology Officer. 

Comments 23.02.2018:
 The latest FHDC assessment of a five year supply of housing land was 

published on 24th July 2017. This shows the Council has a five year 
supply of housing. The application site is included in the Council’s five 
year housing land supply.

 The site is identified within the Submission Site Allocations Local Plan as 
SA2(b). It is at an advanced stage, currently being under examination 
with Hearings having been held in October 2017. It should be given more 
substantial weight than when the original planning policy response was 
sent.  No main modifications or additional modifications to the 
Submission version SALP in relation to site SA2(b) are proposed at the 
present time.

 Query whether affordable housing trigger is met in this case.

Comments 13.12.2018:
 The site is in the Council’s five-year supply (July 2017) and policy 

comments are unchanged from those sent on 23.02.2018. 
 The Site Allocations Plan has been through Examination, with a 

modifications consultation taking place between April and June 2018, 
and a further post-modifications hearing session in June 2018. The 
Inspector is now preparing her report into the Examination. 

 No main or additional modifications were proposed to the SA2(b) 
allocation, and given the advanced stage in the preparation of the Site 
Allocations Local Plan the allocation can be given significant weight.

20.Strategic Housing

Comments 10.08.2018:
The application is to deliver 10 dwellings and in accordance with Policy CS9 
this will trigger the provision of 3 affordable dwellings.  The Council’s 
affordable housing tenure split is 70% Affordable Rent and 30% Shared 
Ownership.  The mix required is:
 Affordable rent – 2 x 2 bed (4 person) house
 Shared ownership – 1 x 2 bed (4 person) house

Representations:

21.33 no. letters of representation received, all objecting to the proposal and 
raising the following points:

Access
 Gas House Drove is narrow – insufficient room for two vehicles to pass.
 Will endanger users of footpath.
 Increase in vehicles using Gas House Drove.

Page 17



 Disabled residents rely on walkway for safe access to town.
 Contamination clearance will involve HGVs removing soil and will cause 

damage to surface.
 The Drove does not meet the Council’s standards.
 Existing surface was created after years of campaigning by local 

residents and is only suitable for existing light traffic.
 Road regularly floods.
 Lack of street lighting.
 Land used for keeping of horses attracts traffic including hay deliveries, 

vets and horse lorries.
 Makes access difficult for emergency vehicles.
 Footpath finishes before the application site.
 Mobility scooters have limited options for keeping themselves safe.
 Additional sewerage collection tankers will cause inconvenience and 

further health and safety concerns for road and path users.
 Refuse truck will have to cross a pedestrian area to enter the site or 

block Gas House Drove.
 Increased traffic will make leaving the Webb’s Row entrance far more 

dangerous.
 Advance of online shopping - already too many delivery trucks having a 

problem with reversing or passing other vehicles.
 Mitigation proposals do not deal with the problem of safety.
 Increasing the number of dwellings from 8 to 10 will increase traffic 

and safety concerns even further.
 Full detailed planning would give a better indication of the volume of 

traffic.
 Any planning granted should include a condition that construction 

traffic is not to use the private road at Wishing Well Close as a turning 
point.

 Object to new right of way proposed from the site onto Webb’s Row.  
Three properties have existing vehicle access onto Webb’s Row, two 
are opposite the exit from the site.

 Roadworks have recently partially blocked the Drove.  Situation would 
be made worse with additional traffic.

 Part of the byway is not even wide enough to be considered single 
carriageway.

 Since original objection there have been several incidents involving 
emergency vehicles blocking and closing off the Drove.

 Additional traffic would put lives of residents at a disadvantage and 
potentially at risk.

 Large vehicles are unable to turn and have to reverse the length of the 
Drove.

 Entrance into Webb’s Row is a blind turning.
 Proposal would have a dramatic effect on the quality of life for 

residents already enduring difficult journeys down Gashouse Drove.

Residential amenity
 Two storey dwellings will overlook properties and gardens and will 

compromise privacy.
 Developing the site off-set as opposed to square will reduce 

overshadowing.
 Do not agree that the rear of houses back onto the rear of bungalows.
 Modern buildings will be taller than adjacent flint cottages.
 Even if the dwellings were bungalows they would still overlook Webb’s 

Row due to the land elevation.

Page 18



 Object to location of bin store, which will be noisy and smelly and 
attract flies and vermin.

 Fail to see how the size of the plot could sustain 10 properties that 
would give residents some space and quality of life.

 Amended plans still show houses that would overlook.  Trees and 
hedges would take too long to grow.

Landscaping, ecology and trees
 Number of mature trees should not have been removed.
 Wildlife disturbance as the site has been left for so long.

Contamination
 Why is planning being considered for contaminated land.  There is a 

vent pipe in the land and house surveys confirm contamination.
 Works to excavate and construct 8 houses could disturb soil and 

potential contamination at a deeper level in areas around the edges 
which have not previously been treated.

 Any spread of contamination is unacceptable and the Council should be 
held accountable for any problems arising.

 Ground under the trees that has been removed will not have been 
treated.

 Can the Council confirm that adjacent land is not contaminated and 
that no seepage has occurred from the former gas tanks.

 Everyone living close should be assured by the environmental office 
that the land is clear of any risk.

 There has been some activity on the land but cannot believe this would 
constitute a complete survey as no drilling or soil samples were taken.

 Land must be declared contamination free before work is carried out.  
Houses need to be built but people must come first.

Other matters
 Devaluation of neighbouring property.
 Only one or two residents were notified but the proposal concerns most 

of Gas House Drove. 
 Lack of infrastructure in Brandon.
 Site does not appear to be big enough for houses and parking required.
 Development is not in keeping with surrounding area.
 Amended proposals do not appear to have taken in any of the local 

people’s concerns.
 Drawings do not detail heights of dwellings.

Policy: 

22.The following policies of the Joint Development Management Policies 
Document and the Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010 have been taken into 
account in the consideration of this application:

-  Core Strategy Policy CS1 - Spatial Strategy

-  Core Strategy Policy CS2 - Natural Environment

- Core Strategy Policy CS3 - Landscape character and the historic 
environment

Page 19



-  Core Strategy Policy CS4 - Reduce emissions, mitigate and adapt to 
future climate change

-  Core Strategy Policy CS5 - Design quality and local distinctiveness

-  Core Strategy Policy CS9 - Affordable Housing Provision

-  Core Strategy Policy CS13 - Infrastructure and developer contributions

-  Policy DM1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

-  Policy DM2 Creating Places Development Principles and Local 
Distinctiveness

-  Policy DM6 Flooding and Sustainable Drainage

-  Policy DM7 Sustainable Design and Construction

-  Policy DM10 Impact of Development on Sites of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity Importance

-  Policy DM11 Protected Species

-  Policy DM12 Mitigation, Enhancement, Management and Monitoring of 
Biodiversity

-  Policy DM13 Landscape Features

-  Policy DM14 Protecting and Enhancing Natural Resources, Minimising 
Pollution and Safeguarding from Hazards

-  Policy DM20 Archaeology

-  Policy DM22 Residential Design

-  Policy DM44 Rights of Way

-  Policy DM46 Parking Standards 

Emerging Local Plan Policy

23.The Proposed Submission Single Issue Review (SIR) and Site Allocations 
Local Plan (SALP)) have through Examination, with a modifications 
consultation taking place between April and June 2018, and a further post-
modifications hearing session in June 2018. The Inspector is now preparing 
her report into the Examination. The SALP sets out the council’s 
development sites across the district up to 2031. The SALP includes a 
Policies Map which defines the proposed settlement boundaries, sites and 
other policy constraints. No main or additional modifications were proposed 
to the SA2(b) allocation at Gas House Drove and the Planning Policy Team 
advise that given the advanced stage in the preparation of the Site 
Allocations Local Plan the allocation can be given significant weight.

Page 20



Other relevant Planning Policy and Guidance

24.The National Planning Policy Framework was revised in July 2018 and is a 
material consideration in decision making from the day of its publication. 
Paragraph 213 is clear however that existing policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or made prior to 
the publication of the revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to them 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework; the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater weight that 
may be given. The key development plan policies in this case are policies 
DM1, DM2, policies relating to the protection and enhancement of 
biodiversity, DM14, DM22 and DM44.  It is necessary to understand how the 
NPPF deals with the issues otherwise raised in these policies, and to 
understand how aligned the DM Policies and the NPPF are. Where there is 
general alignment then full weight can be given to the relevant DM Policy. 
Where there is less or even no alignment then this would diminish the weight 
that might otherwise be able to be attached to the relevant DM Policy. 

25.In accordance with a core principle of the NPPF, policy DM1 sets out the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and explicitly states that 
a positive approach will be taken to development proposals.  Chapter 12 of 
the revised NPPF promotes a key objective of the planning system to achieve 
well-designed places.  Paragraph 124 states that good design is a key aspect 
of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work 
and helps make development acceptable to communities.  Policies DM2 and 
CS3 fully accord with the aims and objectives of the NPPF in relation to good 
design and ensure that local distinctiveness is addressed and that the 
requirements of paragraph 127 of the revised NPPF are met.

26.Policies DM11 and DM12 seek to protect and enhance ecology and 
biodiversity and policy DM12 seeks to ensure that development will not have 
an adverse impact on the character of the landscape.  These policies accord 
with Chapter 15 of the NPPF in relation to the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural environment and reflect the direction given by 
paragraph 170 to decision makers.

27.Policy DM14 requires development proposals on land which is known to be 
affected by contamination to be accompanied by an appropriate assessment 
of risk levels, site investigations and other relevant studies.  This fully 
accords with paragraph 178 of the NPPF with both policies addressing the 
need for remediation.

28.Chapter 9 of the revised NPPF promotes the principle of sustainable 
transport.  Policy DM46 seeks to reduce over-reliance on the car and to 
promote more sustainable forms of transport.  These policies, together with 
Policy CS7, fully accord with the aims and objectives of paragraphs 108, 110 
and 111 of the revised NPPF.

Officer Comment

29.The issues to be considered in the determination of the application are:
 Principle of development
 Access and highway safety
 Residential amenity
 Visual amenity

Page 21



 Ecology and biodiversity
 Contaminated land and drainage
 Planning obligations
 Other issues

Legislative Context for Outline Applications

30.This application is for outline planning permission.  The National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) confirms that an application for outline planning 
permission allows for a decision on the general principles of how a site can 
be developed.  Outline planning permission is granted subject to conditions 
requiring the subsequent approval of one or more ‘reserved matters’.

31.Reserved matters ate those aspects of a proposed development which can 
applicant can choose not to submit details of with an outline planning 
application, i.e. they can be ‘reserved’ for later determination.  These are 
defined in Article 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 as:

 Access
 Appearance
 Landscaping
 Layout
 Scale

32.An application for outline permission does not need to give details of any 
reserved matters, albeit information is often provided at the outline stage 
in ‘indicative’ fashion to demonstrate that the site is capable of 
accommodating the level of development proposed.  In this case, an 
indicative site layout has been provided.  All matters other than access 
however, are reserved.

Principle of Development

33.The site is located within the defined housing settlement boundary for 
Brandon and is a former gas works, now registered on West Suffolk’s 
Brownfield Land Register with an indicative number of 10 dwellings.  
Paragraph 68 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to identify, 
through the development plan and brownfield registers, land to 
accommodate a significant proportion of their housing requirement.  In 
addition, paragraph 118 states that planning policies and decision should 
‘give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within 
settlements for homes and other identified needs, and support appropriate 
opportunities to remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or 
unstable land’.

34.Brandon is one of the three market towns classified as such by Policy CS1 
(Spatial Strategy), which also sets out a broad vision for the area including 
the redevelopment of brownfield sites for residential housing.  The site is 
allocated for residential development in the Site Allocations Local Plan, 
which is now at an advanced stage of preparation.  Given that the site is 
located within the settlement boundary, has been identified through the 
brownfield register as having potential for redevelopment and is allocated 
in the SALP, it is considered that there is significant weight in favour of the 

Page 22



redevelopment of the site, subject to all other material considerations being 
satisfied.

Access and Highway Safety

35.The site is located within close proximity to the town centre with good access 
to the services and facilities on offer in the town.  Vehicular access to the 
site is via Gas House Drove, a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT).  The Drove 
is narrow in places and many local residents have reported the fact that two 
vehicles are unable to pass without mounting the adjacent footpath.  This 
footpath does not currently extend past Webb’s Row, a public right of way 
running alongside the western boundary of the site.  The Highway Authority 
and Public Rights of Way Team have been extensively involved in the 
consideration of the application and have raised concerns that the surface 
of the Drove could be damaged by construction vehicles and by the 
additional traffic generated by the development.  In addition, the proposal, 
in its original format was considered to be detrimental to the safety of 
pedestrians using the Drove.

36.In response to these concerns the applicant submitted details of a number 
of mitigation measures that could be incorporated into the scheme.  The 
applicant has suggested that the use of Gas House Drove by construction 
traffic can be addressed through the use of a Construction Management 
Plan.  This would include surveys being undertaken before and after 
construction with the developer responsible for any damage caused by 
construction vehicles.  The applicant also suggests that a financial 
contribution could be made to the Highway Authority for ongoing repairs 
and maintenance to the Drove, justified by the increase in vehicular traffic 
generated by the development.

37.To improve pedestrian safety the applicant suggests that the existing 
footpath along Gas House Drove could be extended across the frontage of 
the site.  In addition, a pedestrian link from the south-west corner of the 
site into Webb’s Row is proposed.  An amended indicative site layout has 
been submitted depicting both of these measures.

38.The mitigation measures make reference to the desirability of providing 
passing places on Gas House Drove or securing other safety improvements.  
The Highway Authority has repeatedly asked the applicant to pursue this 
point, however, given the limited width of Gas House Drove (approximately 
4.45m including the pedestrian corridor/footpath) there is little opportunity 
to do so.  The applicant is not in control of sufficient land to provide passing 
places and as the Drove is already traffic calmed the improvements are 
limited to enhancing alternative pedestrian routes.

39.Policy DM2 requires development proposals to provide access for all that 
encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport through the provision 
of pedestrian and cycle links.  In addition developments should be designed 
to maintain or enhance the safety of the highway network.

40.It is not known what level of traffic was generated by the gas works 
previously on the site and it is acknowledged that since the gas works 
ceased to be in existence that local residents have become used to the level 
of vehicular traffic using the Drove.  Representations received from 
residents describe the difficulties encountered by residents and visitors to 

Page 23



the area when two vehicles need to pass.  Reference is also made to the 
increase in the number of delivery vehicles using the Drove and the fact that 
horse boxes and similar vehicles need to access the paddock land to the 
north of the Drove.

41.The Highway Authority has submitted a number of consultation responses, 
the most recent being dated 24 August 2018.  In this response the Highway 
Authority repeats that its preference is for passing places to be constructed 
along Gas House Drove.  Previous comments from the Highway Authority 
acknowledge however that this is not possible.  The agent has confirmed 
that the owner of the relevant land has been approached and is not willing 
to sell the land or permit passing place to be constructed.  Whilst the 
Highway Authority has previously raised concerns regarding the proposal, 
they do not object to the application.  Of note are the following comments 
for the Highway Authority from June 2017: 

“We feel that the proposed development of 10 houses will alter the 
pedestrian-vehicle balance to being predominantly vehicular, which will 
have an impact on pedestrian safety and raise the potential of pedestrian-
vehicle conflict. However, in addition to the number of properties currently 
accessed via Gas House Drove, the impact cannot be considered as severe 
enough to recommend refusal, and we therefore aim to improve safety as 
much as is possible.”

42.The most recent response from the Highway Authority goes on to 
recommend a number of planning conditions should the application be 
approved.  It is therefore considered that the Highway Authority does not 
fundamentally object to the scheme such that the application should be 
refused on highway safety grounds.  The extension of the footpath on Gas 
House Drove and the connection into Webb’s Row will enhance pedestrian 
safety and meet the requirements of Policy DM2 and accord with the 
objectives of paragraph 110 of the NPPF.  These factors therefore attract 
weight in favour of the proposal.  The increase in vehicular traffic created 
by ten additional dwellings will add to the difficulties reported by local 
residents and this is a factor to be considered in the planning balance. It 
should be noted that paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development 
should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.

Amenity

43.Policy DM2 requires proposals to ensure that residential amenity is not 
adversely effected.  This can be translated to apply to existing occupiers and 
to future occupiers, ensuring that they will enjoy a satisfactory level of 
amenity.  The area immediately surrounding the site is characterised by a 
variety of style and height of dwellings with the adjoining development to 
the east being predominantly single storey.  

44.The application seeks outline planning permission for the construction of ten 
dwellings with matters relating to scale, layout and design to be reserved 
matters.  The indicative layout submitted suggest that the dwellings would 
be aligned around a central access road and does not state whether the 
dwellings would be single or two storey.  The layout has been amended 
during the course of the application in order to increase the length of the 

Page 24



proposed rear gardens, thereby increasing the separation distance with the 
dwellings to either side of the site.  

45.The applicant has suggested that the proposal could comprise ten two storey 
dwellings but given the proximity of the neighbouring properties this is 
unlikely to be acceptable.  However, it is considered that an acceptable 
scheme could be designed for the site, taking into account its surroundings.  
The applicant would therefore need to address this at reserved matters 
stage.  

46.It is inevitable that there will be some noise and disturbance during the 
construction stage, however, this is likely to be short term and can in part 
be addressed through the use of a construction management plan.  

47.In its consultation response the Ministry of Defence (MOD) stated that the 
application site is within the 63dB(A) noise contour as set out in “A Report 
on Military Aviation Noise Contour of F15MK/C and F15MK/E Aircraft Activity 
at RAF Lakenheath”.  The MOD specifically states that does not object to the 
proposed development subject to the incorporation of adequate mitigation 
measures.  

48.Since the consultation response was received the Local Planning Authority 
has reached agreement with the MOD as to the nature of the mitigation 
required for residential development and having taken national policy and 
advice into account, as well as local policy, a number of planning conditions 
have been agreed to address noise.  It is acknowledged by all parties that 
it is only possible to address internal noise levels through mitigation and 
that external areas will remain affected.  Given that aircraft noise if 
characterised by short periods of relatively high noise levels, with lower 
residual noise levels at other times it is considered that the amenity of future 
occupiers would not be so adversely effected so as to make the dwellings 
uninhabitable.  The requirement to incorporate mitigation measures to 
address internal noise can be addressed by planning condition.

49.On balance it is considered that the proposal adequately addresses 
residential amenity, subject to appropriate conditions and the issue being 
considered further at reserved matters stage.  The proposal therefore 
complies with the residential amenity aspects of policies DM2, DM14 and 
DM22.

Visual Amenity

50.As stated above, the area immediately surrounding the site is characterised 
by a variety of styles and height of dwellings.  There is no predominant 
architectural style along gas House Drove, the individual dwellings of 
varying sizes pf plot featuring in the street scene.  The built environment is 
concentrated on the south side of Gas House Drove, with open paddock and 
farming land to the north.  The proposal would ensure that this pattern of 
development was not interrupted and would infill a currently vacant area.  
Since the site has been vacated it has become a feature of the area and this 
‘gap’ would be lost by the development.  

51.However, space will need to be retained for the access into the site, thereby 
restricting the amount of frontage development.  Subject to a sensitive 
design that respects the semi-rural nature of the area it is considered that 

Page 25



the site has capacity to accommodate the proposed development without 
adversely affecting the street scene.  On this basis it is considered that the 
proposal accords with policies DM2 and DM22 in relation to good design.

52.It is noted that a number of trees were removed from the site by the 
applicant prior to the application being submitted.  This has reduced the 
landscape value of the site and it is therefore expected that the future 
development of the site makes sufficient provision for replacement planting 
and associated landscaping in order to compensate for the loss of the trees.  
The Landscape and Ecology Officer has expressed concern that there will be 
insufficient space within the site for this to be done if ten dwellings are 
constructed.  As this is an outline application with all matters reserved it is 
not possible to comment further, however, the applicant’s attention is drawn 
to this point and the reserved matters application(s) will need to address 
this in detail.  Subject to an appropriate condition requiring replacement 
planting it is considered that the proposal will not have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on the character of the landscape and so complies with 
policy DM13 in this regard.

Ecology and Biodiversity

53.An Ecological Report has been submitted with the application and has been 
reviewed by the Landscape and Ecology Officer.  Clarification has been 
sought on the extent of the site surveyed and it has been confirmed that 
the whole site was surveyed and considered.  A reptile survey was also 
subsequently submitted, which demonstrated that the site has a low 
population of reptiles with only one common lizard being observed during 
the survey period.

54.The Ecological Report concludes that as the site has been disused for many 
years it has become well established for wildlife.  The development has the 
potential to impact on birds, through habitat loss and potentially reptiles 
and bats. The Report proposes that a method statement be put in place in 
respect of site clearance to protect breeding birds and reptiles and this can 
be secured by condition.  To mitigate for the disturbance to wildlife the 
Report also proposes and number of enhancement that can be incorporated 
at the detailed design stage.  These include the installation of bird next 
boxes and cavities, creating native hedgerows through and on the perimeter 
of the site, the provision of roosting sites for bats and the use of native 
plants, trees and shrubs.  These measures can be fully assessed at a later 
stage and secured by way of condition.

55.Subject to the mitigation and enhancement measures referred to above it 
is considered that the proposal adequately addresses the requirements of 
policy DM12.

56.A Habitats Regulations Assessment has been carried out by the Council’s 
Ecology and Landscape Officer.  The site lies outside of the Breckland SPA 
and SAC. The site is within the 1500km buffer protecting those parts of the 
SPA suitable for stone curlew however it is separated from the relevant parts 
of the SPA by the built development of Brandon. The site is outside of the 
400km buffer protecting those parts of the SPA suitable for woodlark and 
nightjar. Given the small size of this development and the location as 
described, likely significant effects arising from this development alone can 
be screened out.

Page 26



57.The site is located approximately 1km from the Breckland Forest SSSI which 
is a component part of Breckland SPA. There is potential for the new 
residents to walk from their properties into the forest. However the site is 
small and located within the town of Brandon where there are facilities for 
informal and formal recreation. The most direct route to the forest is on a 
well-used Public Right of Way, which forms the long distance St Edmund 
Way and Hereward Way. This route leads to Santon Downham where it links 
to the footpath on the northern side of the Little Ouse River. There are other 
footpath connections from the development site which would be equally 
attractive recreational routes. Taking the above factors into account, likely 
significant effects from the development alone can be screened out.

58.The site is within the 7.5km of the SPA which is considered to be the distance 
from which additional residential development has the potential to 
contribute to in-combination recreational effects.  The proposed residential 
dwellings would have access to garden space. In addition the proposals to 
improve Webb’s Row and include additional links to the west will encourage 
the residents to walk to the existing town to use the green space and 
facilities avoiding and reducing the need for these new residents to get into 
their car and drive to other locations within the forest.  On the basis of the 
above, and provided that the improvements and access onto Webb’s Row 
are secured, the Local Planning Authority in its role as Competent Authority 
is able to conclude that the proposals, in combination with other plans and 
projects, would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the Breckland 
SPA.

Contaminated Land and Drainage

59.As documented throughout this report, the site is a former gas works.  A 
Phase 1 Contamination Assessment has been submitted with the application 
and details the extensive history of the site as a gas works up to more recent 
times when the site became vacant.  The site has been subject to a number 
of site investigations and subsequent remedial work dating from 1984 to 
2015.  Works carried out in 2015 were designed to render the site suitable 
for the storage of equipment or materials and left in a condition that would 
not pose a significant risk to controlled waters.

60.The proposed use of the site for residential development is considered a 
much more sensitive end-use and further investigative and remedial work 
is therefore recommended in the report.

61.The Council’s Environment Team agrees with this approach and is satisfied 
that the risks to human health associated with land contamination at the 
site can be appropriately managed by attaching planning conditions 
requiring the necessary investigative and remedial works.  To address 
resident’s concerns it has also confirmed that the remedial works carried 
out to date have been designed to prevent any ‘seepage’ onto adjoining land 
and that any future ground disturbance to further remediate the site can be 
carried out in such a way as to prevent migration of pollutants.

62.The Environment Agency has stated that based on the remediation work 
that was carried out between 2005 and 2015, it is satisfied that the proposed 
development does not pose an unacceptable risk to controlled waters.  It 
considers that planning permission could be granted for the proposed 

Page 27



development subject to a planning conditions requiring contamination not 
previously identified to be remediated and further details of the surface 
water drainage strategy to be submitted.

63.Further information in respect of the surface water drainage strategy has 
been submitted during the course of the application and this information has 
been considered by the Environment Agency and the SCC Floods and Water 
Team.

64.As the applicant is proposing the use of soakaways and infiltration SuDS the 
Environment Agency has requested that a detailed remediation strategy for 
the site is submitted and approved prior to work commencing on site in 
order to further protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters from 
potential pollutants on the site. 

65.The SCC Floods and Water Team takes a similar precautionary approach, 
accepting that the use of soakaways and infiltration SuDS could be achieved 
subject to a satisfactory remediation strategy being implemented.  Further 
details as to the precise nature of the SuDS system will be required a the 
SCC Floods and Water Team recommends that this is secured by condition, 
with details submitted with the first reserved matters application for the 
site.  

66.The Council’s Environment Team also makes reference to the fact that 
developments of this size should be subject to matters to help reduce the 
impact on local air quality.  The Team has therefore recommended a 
condition that all dwellings with dedicated off street parking should be 
provided with an operational electric vehicle charge point.  

67.The principle of the development of this potentially contaminated site has 
been considered in some detail by a number of competent authorities.  It is 
considered that the site can be remediated to accommodate the sensitive 
nature of residential development and on this basis the brownfield nature of 
the site is not a barrier to development.  The Environment Agency, Floods 
and Water Team and the Council’s Environment Team all agree with this 
approach and have recommended a number of planning conditions to 
address the issue.  On this basis it is considered that the proposal meets 
the requirements of policy DM14, in respect of the protection and 
enhancement of natural resources, the minimisation of pollution and 
safeguarding from hazards, and paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Planning Obligations

68.Planning obligations secured must be in accordance with the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into force on 06 April 
2010. In particular, Regulation 122 states that a planning obligation may 
only constitute a reason for approval if it is:
(a)Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b)Directly related to the development; and
(c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

69.These are the three principal tests set out in Paragraph 56 of the Framework 
and are of relevance in guiding the negotiation of planning obligations 
sought prior to the coming into force of the CIL Regulations. In assessing 
potential S106 contributions, officers have also been mindful of Core 

Page 28



Strategy Policy CS13 and the Suffolk County Council guidance in respect of 
Section 106 matters, ‘A Developers Guide to Infrastructure Contributions in 
Suffolk’.

70.The application proposes 10 dwellings, which in accordance with the NPPF 
2018 triggers the requirement for affordable housing.  Policy CS9 of the 
Core Strategy sets this affordable housing target at 30%, which comprises 
3 dwellings in this case.  The Strategic Housing Team advises that the tenure 
split is 70% Affordable Rent and 30% Shared Ownership.  The mix required 
in this case therefore is:
Affordable rent – 2 x 2 bed (4 person) house
Shared ownership – 1 x 2 bed (4 person) house

71.Suffolk County Council has advised that the local catchment secondary 
school has no surplus places and a financial contribution towards education 
provision of £36,710 is therefore being sought.  A libraries contribution of 
£128 is also sought. These requests are considered to be reasonable and 
necessary in order to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

72.The applicant has agreed to provide the above and a Section 106 Agreement 
has been drafted to secure these matters.

Planning Balance and Conclusions

73.The application has been submitted in outline form with matters of detail 
with the exception of the means of access reserved for future consideration.  
The application therefore seeks only to establish the principle of residential 
development of 10 no. dwellings on the site, accessed from Gas House 
Drove.  Whilst layout and scale are not included for consideration at this 
stage, officers are satisfied that the site could accommodate ten dwellings 
in an appropriate manner.  

74.The existing constraints associated with Gas House Drove as a route for 
vehicles are acknowledged and the proposals have been the subject of 
extensive discussions with the Highway Authority and the agent for the 
application.  The provision of passing places along the Drove has been 
explored but unfortunately cannot be secured due to land ownership 
constraints.  The scheme however provides a number of measures to 
mitigate the development’s impact as far as possible.  These comprise 
extending the existing footpath along the site frontage; the provision of a 
footpath link from the site to Webb’s Row; improvements to Webb’s Row 
including the provision of a metalled surface along its entire length; and a 
Construction Management Plan including surveys of Gas House Drove pre 
and post-construction with the developer responsible for any damage 
caused by construction vehicles.  The footpath works and connection to 
Webb’s Row will enhance pedestrian safety, therefore meeting the 
requirements of Policy DM2 and the objectives of paragraph 110 of the 
NPPF.  

75.Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.  The Highway Authority advise that whilst the 
addition of 10 no. dwellings on the site would raise the potential for 
pedestrian-vehicle conflict as a result of additional vehicle movements, 

Page 29



given the number of properties currently accessed via the Drove this impact 
is not considered to be severe and would not therefore warrant a refusal of 
permission on such grounds.  The scheme would provide much needed 
additional housing on a currently vacant brownfield site within the housing 
settlement boundary of Brandon, which is also allocated for residential 
redevelopment within the emerging Local Plan.

76.In conclusion it is considered that the impact of the development on users 
of Gas House Drove has been mitigated as far as possible, and that this 
factor should not otherwise prevent the development of this site given the 
clear benefits of the scheme in providing additional housing in a sustainable 
location.  As a matter of balance and subject to appropriate conditions and 
the completion of a S106 agreement, it is recommended that outline 
planning permission should be granted.  

Recommendation:

77.It is recommended that outline planning permission be APPROVED subject 
to the applicant first entering into a Section 106 Agreement in respect of 
affordable housing provision, education and library contributions.

Any such approval to thereafter be granted by Officers to also be subject to 
conditions covering the following matters:

 
1) Standard time limit condition for outline planning permission 

(submission of reserved matters and commencement of development).
 
2) Standard outline condition requiring approval of reserved matters.

3) Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans and 
documents.

4) Land contamination condition requiring a site investigation scheme, 
results of the site investigation, detailed risk assessment, options 
appraisal and remediation strategy, and long term monitoring and 
maintenance plan.

5) Surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and approved 
concurrent with the first reserved matters application.

6) Construction Surface Water Management Plan to be submitted and 
agreed detailing how surface water and storm water will be managed on 
the site during construction.

.
7) Development not to be occupied until details of all Sustainable Urban 

Drainage System components and piped networks have been submitted 
and approved for inclusion on the Lead Local Flood Authority's Flood Risk 
Asset Register.

8) All HGV and construction traffic movements to and from the site over the 
duration of the construction period to be subject to a Construction and 
Deliveries Management Plan which shall be submitted to the planning 
authority for approval a minimum of 28 days before any deliveries of 
materials commence.  No movements shall be permitted to and from the 
site other than in accordance with the routes defined in the Plan.

Page 30



The site operator shall maintain a register of complaints and record of 
actions taken to deal with such complaints at the site office as specified 
in the Plan throughout the period of occupation of the site.  
The plan will ensure that:
A. All vehicles accessing Gas House Drove as part of the construction 

phase works;
 will not be wider than the available metalled surface,
 will not cause any impediment to the flow of existing traffic,
 will not cause a safety issue for pedestrians,
 will not block or otherwise cause an obstruction to Gas House Drove.
B. All construction traffic, materials and equipment will be stored and 

parked within the site boundary at all times.
C. The surface of Gas House Drove and connecting verges and frontages 

will be restored to the condition they are in before the construction 
works started.

D. A survey of the existing condition will be undertaken with a 
representative of the highway authority before construction 
commences.

9) Improvements to Webb’s Row Brandon footpath 008 to be submitted and 
approved by the LPA.  Footpath to have a metalled surface for its entire 
length, with suitable lighting and surface water drainage for all-weather 
use and with a widened junction onto Gas House Drove. There shall be 
no additional vehicle movements onto Webb’s Row.  Improvements to 
be carried out before first occupation.

10) 1.8m wide footway to be provided along the frontage of the site and link 
to be provided from within the site to Webb’s Row, both as shown on the 
indicative layout plan, to provide a safe route for pedestrians. 
Improvements to be carried out before first occupation.

11) Proposed access onto Gas House Drove shall be properly surfaced with 
a bound material for a minimum distance of 10m metres from the edge 
of the metalled surface of Gas House Drove.

12) Vehicular access to be a minimum width of 5 metres throughout the 
development, measured from the nearby edge of the carriageway.

13) Details of the areas to be provided for storage and presentation of refuse 
and recycling bins to be submitted and approved.

14) Details of the estate roads and footpaths, (including layout, levels, 
gradients, surfacing and means of surface water drainage) to be 
submitted and approved.

15) Details of the areas to be provided for the loading, unloading, 
manoeuvring and parking of vehicles including secure cycle storage to 
be submitted and approved.

16) Before the access is first used visibility splays shall be provided in 
accordance with details previously approved in writing and shall 
thereafter be retained in the approved form.

17) Prior to first occupation, all dwellings with dedicated off street parking 
shall be provided with an operational electric vehicle charge point at 

Page 31



reasonably and practicably accessible location.

18) Details submitted for landscaping to include replacement tree planting to 
compensate for the loss of the trees removed prior to the determination 
of this application.

19) Details to be provided at reserved matters stage of open space to be 
provided either on or off site in accordance with the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Document for Open Space (children’s play 
space).

20) Reserved matters to include an 'Acoustic Design Statement', as 
advocated by ProPG - Planning and Noise: new residential development 
(May 2017).  the 'Acoustic Design Statement' shall as a minimum 
demonstrate:
(i) How the approach to the proposed layout of the site has considered 
and mitigated against noise
(ii) How lowest practicable noise levels in the external amenity areas of 
the site can be achieved.

21) The acoustic insulation of the dwelling units within the proposed 
development shall be such to ensure noise levels with windows closed do 
not exceed an LAeq(16hrs) of 35dB (A) within bedrooms and living rooms 
between 07:00 and 23:00hrs and an LAeq (8hrs) of 30dB(A) within 
bedrooms and living rooms between 23:00 and 07:00hrs.

22) Development to be carried out strictly in accordance with the mitigation 
measures detailed at Section 6.3 of the Ecological Survey prepared by 
Norfolk Wildlife Services, dated June 2017.

23) Reserved matters to include details of ecological enhancement measures 
based upon the details contained at Section 6.4 of the Ecological Survey 
prepared by Norfolk Wildlife Services, dated June 2017.  The measures 
shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation.

24) Scheme for the provision of fire hydrants within the application site to 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Documents:

All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online 
DC/16/1450/OUT

Page 32

http://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=O9SQEAPD04Z00


DC/16/1450/OUT 

Former Gas Works site Gashouse Drove Brandon 

 

 

P
age 33

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjt3-2L8rHZAhVO_aQKHdUrDPEQjRwIBw&url=http://corearchitecture.co.uk/more.html&psig=AOvVaw1jIKKG7i9AaHDln4eeKDR4&ust=1519126689081835


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Planning Application DC/16/1450/OUT - Former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon
	DEV.FH.19.001 Former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.19.001 Former Gas Works Site, Gas House Drove, Brandon - Site Plan


